THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NONA TOBIN,

Appellant,

v.

BRIAN CHIESI, an individual; DEBORA CHIESI, an individual; QUICKEN LOANS, INC.; JOEL A. STOKES, an individual; JOEL A. STOCKS and SANDRA F. STOKES as Trustees of the JIMIJACK IRREVOCABLE TRUST; REDROCK FINANCIAL SERVICES; and NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Sep 30 2021 03:49 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No.: 82294

Dist. Court No.: A-19-799890-C

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County Nevada The Honorable Susan Johnson, Department XXII, District Court Judge District Court Case No. A-19-799890-C

APPELLANT NONA TOBIN'S OPENING BRIEF

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellant Nona Tobin's instant appeal concerns three separate matters. For the first matter, the Motion to Dismiss, the basis for jurisdiction is NRAP 3A(b)(1) because this is an appeal from a final judgment. On December 3, 2020, the Order Granting Defendant Red Rock Financial Services' (hereinafter "Red Rock") Motion to Dismiss Complaint and all Joinders to the Motion (hereinafter the "Red Rock Order") was filed and served. AA4486-AA4510. Notice of Entry of the Red Rock Order was filed on December 3, 2020. AA4511-4537. Appellant filed her Notice of Appeal of the Red Rock Order on December 29, 2020. AA4556-AA4557.

For the second matter, which is an appeal of an order granting attorney's fees and costs, the basis for jurisdiction is NRAP 3A(b)(8) because orders granting attorney's fees constitute special orders under said rule. On September 6, 2020, the Court filed the Order Granting Joel A. Stokes, Joel A. Stokes and Sandra Stokes as Trustees of the Jimijack Irrevocable Trust's (hereinafter the "Jimijack Parties") Joinder and Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs. Pursuant to EDCR 7.60(1) and/or (3) (hereinafter the "Jimijack Order"). AA4381-AA4388. On October 8, 2020, the Notice of Entry of the Jimijack Order was filed. AA4423-AA4433. On November 9, 2020, Appellant filed her Notice of Appeal of the Jimijack Order. AA4463-AA4464.

For the third matter, which is an appeal of an order granting attorney's fees and costs, the basis for jurisdiction is NRAP 3A(b)(8) because orders granting attorney's fees constitute special orders under said rule. On November 17, 2020, an Order was entered Granting Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs in favor of Brian Chiesi, Debora Chiesi, and Quicken Loans, Inc. (said parties hereinafter the "Chiesi Parties") (said order hereinafter the "Chiesi Order") was filed and served. On November 17, 2020, the Notice of Entry of the Chiesi Order was filed. AA4475-AA4483. On December 17, 2020, Appellant filed her Notice of Appeal of the Chiesi Order. AA4547-AA4548.

The Notices of Appeal of the Jimijack and Chiesi Orders created two appeals separate from the instant appeal (Supreme Court Case Nos. 82094 and 82234 respectively). However, the Supreme Court entered an Order Dismissing Appeals in Docket Nos. 82094 and 82234, and Disapproving Stipulation on June 22, 2021. Said Order dismissed Appeals in Docket Nos. 82094 and 82234 because the Supreme Court found that "this court lacks jurisdiction." However, the Order stated that the issues raised in said Appeals "may be challenged in the context of Docket No. 82294 on appeal from the final judgment."

ROUTING STATEMENT

The present case is assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(6) and (7). NRAP 17(b)(6) states that the following are presumptive assigned to the

Court of Appeals: "[c]ases involving a contract dispute where the amount in controversy is less than \$75,000." Furthermore NRAP 17(b)(7) states: "[a]ppeals from post judgment orders in civil cases" are presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. The present Appeal concerns the granting of a motion to dismiss in a civil case as well as the granting of two motions for attorney's fees in the same matter.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- Whether the district court erred in Granting Red Rock's Motion to
 Dismiss, and the Related Joinders thereto;
- 2. Whether the district court erred in Granting the Jimijack Parties' Motion to Attorney's Fees and Costs; and,
- 3. Whether the district court erred in Granting the Chiesi Parties' Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The instant case arises from a HOA foreclosure sale held on August 15, 2014. Tobin acquired her interest in the real property at issue, following the death of her fiancé, Gordon B. Hansen in January of 2012. Tobin intervened with claims in the two (2) underlying cases, both as successor trustee to her fiancé's trust, the Gordon B. Hansen Trust, dated August 22, 2008, and in her individual capacity, as the beneficial interest holder to the subject property.

Tobin, as a pro se litigant, initially intervened in district court case no. A-15-720032-C (hereinafter the "First Action") both: (1) as an individual, and beneficial interest holder in the subject property, and (2) as successor trustee to the Gordon B. Hansen Trust. During the First Action, the Gordon B. Hansen Trust was wound down and any right, title, or interest in the subject property was conveyed to Tobin. Tobin attempted to dismiss the Gordon B. Hansen Trust and join Red Rock as a party to the First Action, however, her efforts were thwarted by the district court. Shortly before the bench trial in the First Action, the district court struck all Tobin's pleadings as an individual and excluded her as a party to the First Action. Following the death of her fiancé, and disclaimer of interest of the other beneficial interest holder, Tobin had acquired title to the subject property. However, the district court excluded Tobin from participating in the bench trial in the First Action, and struck her pleadings. Tobin appealed, but the appellate court dismissed her appeal as she

had no standing because the district court struck her as an individual in the First Action. Therefore, Tobin had no recourse but to file her claims as an individual in district court case no. A-19-799890-C (hereinafter the "Second Action").

In the Second Action, Tobin filed suit in her individual capacity as title holder to the subject property, and made claims against Red Rock, the HOA's foreclosure agent, Nationstar, who Tobin claims prevented her from selling the subject property prior to the foreclosure sale, and the subsequent purchasers, the Jimijack Parties and the Chiesi Parties.

In the Second Action, Red Rock filed its motion to dismiss claiming res judicata, claim preclusion, and nonmutual claim preclusion (hereinafter the "doctrine of res judicata"). Nationstar, the Jimijack Parties, and the Chiesi Parties joined in Red Rock's motion to dismiss, and the district court granted Red Rock's Order, dismissal with prejudice, and awarded attorney's fees and costs to the Jimijack Parties and the Chiesi Parties.

The district court erred in granting Red Rock's Order based on the doctrine of *res judicata*. Tobin and Red Rock were not parties to the First Action due to the following district court actions: (1) Tobin's pleadings, in her individual capacity, were stricken at the bench trial, and she was removed as a party; and (2) Tobin requested joinder of Red Rock was denied. Therefore, Tobin had good reasons for not participating as an individual and for not joining Red Rock in the First Action,

the district court's denial. Therefore, Red Rock's Order based on the doctrine of *res judicata* is reversible error as Tobin had good reasons for bringing her claims in the Second Action.

Additionally, because Tobin has a good faith basis for bringing the Second Action, the district court abused its discretion in granting the Jimijack Parties' attorney's fees, especially in light of counsel's failure to specifically articulate each of the *Brunzell factors*, including his education and experience. The district court further abused its discretion in awarding the Chiesi Parties' attorney's fees and costs as counsel's request appeared unreasonable in light of her familiarity with the First Action.

Res judicata will not be applied if injustice would result, or if the public interest requires that relitigation not be foreclosed. Villacres v. ABM Industries, Inc., 189 Cal.App.4th 562, 577 (Cal.Ct.App. 2010). Tobin respectfully requests this Court to overturn Red Rock's Order, and reverse the awards of attorneys' fees in the Jimijack's Order; and the Chiesi's Order in the interest of justice and equity.

This Court should find that district court committed reversible error because it misapplied the doctrine of *res judicata in* granting the Red Rock Order and abused its discretion when awarding the Jimijack Order and Chiesi Order. Therefore, Tobin respectfully requests this Court should overturn and reverse the following orders:

(1) the Red Rock Order; (2) the Jimijack Order; and (3) the Chiesi Order.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. General Background

On or about July 31, 2003, Gordon B. Hansen and his wife Marilyn Hansen purchased real property located at 273 White Sage Dr., Henderson, NV 89052, APN 191-13-811-052 (hereinafter the "Property"). AA3573-AA3576. On June 11, 2004, Marilyn Hansen quitclaimed her interest in the Property to Gordon B. Hansen. AA3578-AA3581. On or about August 22, 2008, Gordon B. Hansen executed the Gordon B. Hansen Trust (hereinafter the "Hansen Trust") which identified Tobin and Steven Hansen as beneficiaries, designated Tobin as the successor trustee, and designated Steven Hansen as alternative successor trustee. AA3583-AA3612. On August 27, 2008, Gordon B. Hansen deeded title to the Property into the Hansen Trust by way of Grant, Bargain, Sale Deed. AA3614- AA3615. Gordon B. Hansen died on January 14, 2012. AA3619.

Tobin paid the homeowners assessments and late fees for three quarters after Gordon Hansen's death. AA3564. However, there were discrepancies regarding payments applied and correspondence between Tobin and the HOA's management. AA3621-AA3630. Despite these payments, attempts to close by requesting payoffs, and the correspondence between the parties, on December 14, 2012, Red Rock, as the foreclosure agent for the HOA, recorded a Lien for Delinquent Assessments with the Clark County Recorder's Office. AA3632. On March 12, 2013, Red Rock

recorded a Notice of Default and Election to Sell with the Clark County Recorder's Office. AA3634. On February 12, 2014, Red Rock recorded a Notice of Foreclosure Sale with the Clark County Recorder's Office. AA3644-AA3645.

On August 15, 2014, Red Rock sold the Property at auction to Opportunity Homes, LLC for \$63,100.00. AA3658-AA3660. On August 22, 2014, a Foreclosure Deed was recorded with the Clark County Recorder's Office. *Id.* As a result of Red Rock's sale of the Property, there were excess proceeds in the approximate amount of \$57,282 in Red Rock's possession. AA1044. Tobin claimed issues inherent to Red Rock's sale of the Property including, but not limited to, failure to provide requisite notices, failure to accept tenders of the super priority amounts, errors in accounting, misrepresentations of fact to the Nevada Real Estate Division's Ombudsman's Office, errors in the Foreclosure Deed's recitals, and misrepresenting the assessment amounts due and owing. AA3564-AA3566.

On June 9, 2015, Opportunity Homes, LLC quitclaimed the Property to F. Bondurant, LLC. AA3849-AA3851. On June 9, 2015, F. Bondurant, LLC quitclaimed the Property to the Jimijack Parties. AA3853-AA3855. On May 1, 2019, the Jimijack Parties transferred their rights in the Property to the Chiesi Parties by way of a Grant, Bargain, Sale Deed. AA4199-AA4206.

II. Relevant Procedural History

a. The Jimijack Parties Commence the First Action.

On June 16, 2015, the Jimijack Parties filed a Complaint with the Eighth Judicial District Court (A-15-720032-C). AA0001-AA0008. The Complaint asserted the following claims: 1) quiet title; 2) cancellation of instruments; 3) injunctive relief; 4) breach of contract; and 5) indemnification. *Id*.

On January 11, 2016, Nationstar, apparently unaware of the First Action, instigate a separate action by filing a Complaint (A-16-730078-C). AA0012-AA0172. Nationstar's Complaint asserted the following claims: 1) quiet title/declaratory relief; 2) preliminary injunction; and 3) unjust enrichment. *Id.* On June 30, 2016, the Jimijack Parties filed a Motion to Consolidate the First Action with the A-16-730078-C matter. On July 29, 2016, Tobin, together with Steve Hansen in proper person, filed a Motion to Intervene in the A-16-730078-C matter. AA0281-AA0345. On August 26, 2016, an Order was filed granting the Jimijack Parties' Motion to Consolidate which consolidated the A-16-730078 matter into the First Action. AA0347-AA0348. On September 29, 2016, the Court issued a minute order denying without prejudice Tobin and Steven Hansen's Motion to Intervene as procedurally deficient. AA0349.

On November 15, 2016, Tobin, individually and as Trustee of the Hansen Trust, filed another Motion to Intervene. AA0350-AA0467. On January 12, 2017, an Order was entered granting Tobin and the Hansen Trust's Motion to Intervene in the First Action. AA0482-AA0486. Thereafter, the caption for the First Action read "Nona Tobin, an individual, and Trustee of the [Hansen Trust]." On January 31, 2017, the

Hansen Trust filed a Crossclaim against the HOA which included the following claims:

1) quiet title and equitable relief; 2) civil conspiracy; 3) fraudulent concealment;

4) unjust enrichment; and 5) breach of contract. AA0487-AA0582. On February 1,

2017, the Hansen Trust filed an Answer to the Jimijack Parties' Complaint and a

Counterclaim which alleged the following claims: 1) quiet title and equitable relief;

2) fraudulent reconveyance; 3) unjust enrichment; 4) civil conspiracy; and

5) preliminary and permanent injunction. AA0583-AA0620.

On March 28, 2017, the Hansen Trust was wound down, and as a result it quitclaimed all of its right, title, and interest in and to the Property to Tobin, individually. AA4176-AA4179. On November 30, 2019, Tobin filed a Motion to Amend Answer, Counterclaim, and Crossclaims. AA0864-AA0897. Mr. Coppedge of Mushkin Cica Coppedge, who had made in an appearance on behalf of Tobin and the Hansen Trust on May 24, 2017, incorrectly stated in the Motion to Amend that Tobin sought to delete herself as a party because the real party in interest was the Hansen Trust. AA0867. Mr. Coppedge was apparently unaware of Tobin's quitclaim deed that had been recorded on March 28, 2017 divesting the Hansen Trust of any right, title, or interest in the Property. The Motion to Amend stated that the reasons to amend were to add a claim for money damages against the Jimijack Parties, to clarify the Hansen Trust's claim for quiet title to include all parties, and to add third-party claims against

Red Rock for failure to distribute the excess proceeds, who had thus far not been added to the litigation. AA0867.

On January 10, 2019, despite the fact that the Motion to Amend was unopposed, the Court issued a Minute Order granting the Motion to Amend as far as the Motion did not seek to add additional parties or crossclaims and did not affect the trial date. AA0898. In essence, the Court did not allow Red Rock to be added as a party to the First Action despite the fact that Red Rock was the entity that performed the HOA foreclosure and despite the fact that it still retained the excess proceeds from said sale. *Id.* As a result of the Court's ruling disallowing the Motion to Amend, no amendment was filed, and both the Hansen Trust and Tobin individually remained in the First Action. *Id.*

On February 5, 2019, the HOA moved for summary judgment seeking to validate the August 15, 2014 sale of the Property despite the numerous irregularities during the NRS 116 foreclosure process. AA0899-AA1073. On April 12, 2019, the claims between the Jimijack Parties and Nationstar were settled, and a Notice of Settlement was filed with the district court. AA1412-AA1414. On April 18, 2019, the Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were entered granting summary judgment in favor of the HOA concluding that "the HOA properly followed the processes and procedures in foreclosing upon the Property." AA1427-AA1441. On May 1, 2019, the Jimijack Parties transferred their rights in the Property to Joel Stokes

by way of a Quitclaim Deed. AA4199-AA4201. On December 27, 2019, Joel Stokes transferred their rights in the Property to the Chiesi Parties by way of a Grant, Bargain, Sale Deed. AA4203-AA4206.

On May 23, 2019, Tobin and the Hansen Trust filed a Motion to Substitute Real Party in Interest and to Withdraw as Counsel of Record for Tobin individually. AA1800-AA1807. The Motion sought to substitute Tobin in for the Hansen Trust as the Hansen Trust had previously conveyed all of its right, title, and interest in and to the Property. *Id.* The Motion also sought to have Mr. Coppedge withdraw as counsel of record for Tobin but to continue to represent the Hansen Trust. *Id.* On May 29, 2019, while hearing Tobin and the Hansen Trust's Motion for Reconsideration, the Court elected to hear the issue presented by Tobin's Motion to Substitute. AA2407. The district court erroneously denied Tobin and the Hansen Trust's Motion and elected to strike all "representations about [Tobin] being an individual party in the case." *Id.* As a result of the lower court's order, Tobin was not allowed to participate in the remainder of the proceedings or the trial in the First Action in an individual capacity. Finally, the district court *sua sponte* took Tobin's Motion to Substitute off calendar. Id.

The district court conducted a bench trial on June 5, 2019 where the district court extinguished Tobin's rights, title, and interest to the Property despite Tobin not being able to appear at the bench trial in an individual capacity. AA2470. Tobin subsequently

filed several motions including a Motion to Intervene as an individual, a Motion for New Trial, and a Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRS 38.310(2). AA3222-AA3227. However, the district court struck Tobin's Motions from the record by concluding that Tobin was not, and had never been, a party to the case. AA3225.

b. Having Been Excluded from the First Action, Tobin Commences the Second Action.

On August 7, 2019, Tobin, as an individual, filed a Complaint for claims including quiet title, equitable, declaratory and injunctive relief arising from a defective HOA foreclosure sale conducted without notice on August 15, 2014 (A-19-799890), the Second Action. Tobin included as defendants in the Second Action the Jimijack Parties, Nationstar, and the Chiesi Parties. AA3239-AA3256.

On June 23, 2020, Red Rock moved to dismiss the Second Action under the doctrine of *res judicata*. AA3257-3776. On June 25, 2020, Nationstar filed a brief Joinder to Red Rock's Motion to Dismiss. AA3722-AA3778. The Jimijack Parties filed a Joinder to Red Rock's Motion to Dismiss and for Attorney's Fees Pursuant to EDCR 7.60(b) on June 25, 2020. AA3777-3800. On July 6, 2020, the Chiesi Parties filed a Joinder to Red Rock's Motion to Dismiss as well as a Request for Judicial Notice. AA3801-AA4241. On August 11, 2020, the district court heard the defendants' Motions and Joinders. AA4368-4380.

On September 6, 2020, the Court issued the Jimijack Order wherein the Court granted the Jimijack Parties' Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs. AA4381-4388.

The district court issued the Jimijack Order even before the Red Rock Order and considered as grounds for the Order authority and relief that was not cited or relied upon in the Jimijack Parties' Joinder and Motion. *Id.* On September 16, 2020, the Chiesi Parties moved for their attorney's fees. AA4389-4407. On November 17, 2020, the Chiesi Order was entered granting the Chiesi Parties' Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs. AA**. To date, Red Rock remains in possession of the \$57,282 in excess proceeds.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court incorrectly applied the doctrine of *res judicata* in granting Red Rock's motion to dismiss. In the First Action, Tobin made claims against the HOA, Nationstar, Bondurant LLC, and the Jimijack Parties to quiet title, for declaratory relief, and for other claims arising from the HOA foreclosure sale on August 15, 2014. Tobin knew that Red Rock acted as the HOA's foreclosure agent on the date of the sale, and in the motion to amend answer, counterclaims, and crossclaims, requested that the district court join Red Rock to the First Action. The district court denied Tobin's motion to join Red Rock, and rejected Tobin, in her individual capacity and struck her pleadings in her individual capacity before the bench trial in the First Action.

The First Action involved the HOA's foreclosure sale of the Property on August 15, 2014, and included various parties: (1) Nationstar, who acquired an

assignment to the deed of trust of the Property; (2) Opportunity Homes, LLC, who purchased the Property at the HOA foreclosure sale; and subsequent purchasers of the Property following the sale: F. Bondurant LLC; the Jimijack Parties; and the Chiesi Parties.

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