#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\* \* \*

NONA TOBIN, an individual,

Appellant,

VS.

BRIAN CHIESI, an individual,
DEBORA CHIESI, an individual,
QUICKEN LOANS INC.; JOEL A.
STOKES, an individual, JOEL A.
STOKES and SANDRA F. STOKES, as
Trustees of the JIMIJACK
IRREVOCABLE TRUST; JIMIJACK
IRREVOCABLE TRUST; RED ROCK
FINANCIAL SERVICES; and
NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Oct 25 2021 02:27 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court No. 82294

District Ct. No. A799890

### APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT THE HONORABLE SUSAN JOHNSON PRESIDING

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

doctrines of issue and claim preclusion and could overwhelm the courts in Nevada with a second flood of quiet title claims seeking do-overs.

The district court correctly found that Tobin's claims are barred by issue and claim preclusion. This Court should affirm the district court's decision.

Finally, the district court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Tobin's Amended Complaint was a multiplication of the Quiet Title Litigation, precluded by issue and claim preclusion, and thus, was brought without reasonable ground such that an award of attorney's fees and costs was proper pursuant to NRS 18.010(2)(b). Id. This is precisely the type of case the Nevada Legislature sought to deter by enacting NRS 18.010(2)(b). This Court should affirm the district court's award.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

## A. The district court correctly found that Tobin's Amended Complaint is barred by issue and claim preclusion.

In 2008, this Court clarified Nevada law regarding *res judicata* and collateral estoppel, adopting the modern terminology of claim and issue preclusion respectively, and establishing separate tests for each. <u>See Five Star Capital Corp. v. Ruby</u>, 124 Nev. 1048, 194 P.3d 709 (Nev. 2008).

The <u>Five Star</u> Court set forth a three-part test for determining whether claim preclusion should apply: (1) the parties *or their privies* are the same; (2) the final judgment is valid; and (3) the subsequent action is based on the same claims or any part of them that were or could have been brought in the first case. <u>Id.</u> at 1054, 194

P.3d at 713. The majority of state and federal courts utilize these three factors. <u>Id.</u> at 1054, 194 P.3d at 713. Claim preclusion generally applies to all grounds of recovery, regardless of the nature or category of damages request. <u>Id.</u> At 1058, 194 P.3d at 715.

A policy-driven doctrine, claim preclusion is designed to promote finality of judgments and judicial efficiency by requiring a party to bring all related claims against its adversary in a single suit, on penalty of forfeiture. <u>Id.</u> "[A]II claims based on the same facts and alleged wrongful conduct that were *or could have been brought* in the first proceeding are subject to claim preclusion." <u>G.C. Wallace v. Eight Judicial Dist. Court</u>, 127 Nev. 701, 707, 262 P.3d 1135, 1139 (Nev. 2011) (emphasis added) (finding that because a tenant's default gave rise to both a landlord's summary eviction as well as the landlord's later damages for breaching the lease, the two actions were based upon an identical set of facts that could have been brought simultaneously).

In addition, <u>Five-Star</u> established a four-part test for issue preclusion: (1) the issue decided in the prior litigation must be identical to the issue presented in the current action; (2) the initial ruling must have been on the merits and have become final; (3) the party against whom the judgment is asserted must have been a party *or in privity with a party* to the prior litigation; and (4) the issue was actually and necessarily litigated. <u>Id.</u> at 1055, 194 P.3d at 713.

#### 1. The parties or their privies are the same.

Tobin's Opening Brief argues that because Tobin was not allowed to participate in the Quiet Title Litigation in her individual capacity, the district court erred in finding that Tobin's claims in this action are barred by issue and claim preclusion. The problem with Tobin's argument is that it completely ignores the fact that issue and claim preclusion apply if a party is *in privity with a party to the prior litigation*. Here, there is no question that Tobin, in her individual capacity, is in privity with the Hansen Trust. Likewise, Red Rock is in privity with the HOA.<sup>2</sup> Finally, as set forth in the factual section above, the Chiesi Respondents are in privity with Jimijack.<sup>3</sup>

Any interest Tobin acquired in the Property in her individual capacity (which was none) derived from the Quitclaim Deed Tobin recorded during the course of the Quiet Title Litigation, by which the Hansen Trust purported to transfer its

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Red Rock acted as the HOA's agent in the HOA Foreclosure. In the Quiet Title Litigation, Tobin, in her capacity as trustee of the Hansen Trust, asserted claims against the HOA by arguing that the HOA's agent – Red Rock – failed to comply with NRS Chapter 116. Accordingly, Red Rock was in privity with the HOA. The undersigned anticipates that Red Rock will further expand on this issue in its Answering Brief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Tobin's Opening Brief made no attempt to argue that issue and claim preclusion would not apply because the Chiesis were not parties to the Quiet Title Litigation. However, even if Tobin had not waived the argument by failing to raise it in her Opening Brief, there is no question the Chiesis are in privity with Jimijack. Thus, the doctrines of issue and claim preclusion apply.

(extinguished) interest in the Property to Tobin individually for no consideration. 20 AA4176-79. Nevada law is clear: a person is in privity with another if the person acquired an interest through inheritance, succession, or purchase. Bower v. Harrah's Laughlin, Inc., 125 Nev. 470, 481, 215 P.3d 709, 718 (Nev. 2009). Although the Quitclaim Deed to Tobin constitutes a "wild" deed (i.e., a deed outside the chain of title (see Snow v. Pioneer Title Ins. Co., 84 Nev. 480, 444 P.2d 125 (Nev. 1968))), Tobin is nonetheless bound by the final judgment entered against the Hansen Trust. Bower v. Harrah's Laughlin, Inc., 125 Nev. 470, 481, 215 P.3d 709, 718 (Nev. 2009).

Moreover, Tobin participated in the Quiet Title Litigation in her capacity as trustee of the Hansen Trust. Her participation in the Quiet Title Litigation as trustee, standing alone, is likewise sufficient to find that Tobin was in privity with the Hansen Trust. Addressing the privity element in <u>Harrah's</u>, the Nevada Supreme Court noted that its holding was consistent with the <u>Restatement (Second) of Judgments</u>, § 41(1)(a), which provides that a trustee or beneficiary of a trust or estate is bound by a judgment in which the trustee participated in the action. <u>Harrah's</u>, 125 Nev. at 481, 215 P.3d at 718.

Here, is undisputed that Tobin participated in the Quiet Title Litigation in her capacity as trustee *and* beneficiary of the Hansen Trust. 19 AA 3976-78. In addition, Tobin testified at the bench trial in the Quiet Title Litigation. Indeed, it was Tobin's *own trial testimony* that proved fatal to the Hansen Trust's counterclaim against

Jimijack. 20 AA4180-97 at Conclusion of Law No. 5 (Tobin's acknowledgement that the house had been subject to multiple short sales, the Trust was in default with the lender and the HOA, and Tobin had received the Notice of Foreclosure Sale was fatal to her claim that the HOA Foreclosure was invalid). For that same reason, the Court of Appeals affirmed the district court's judgment, finding that the HOA Foreclosure was valid because the Hansen Trust was continuously in default on obligations that were properly included in the HOA's lien from the date the underlying notice of delinquent assessment lien was recorded to the date of the foreclosure sale. See Tobin v. Stokes, 79295-COA, 2021 Nev. App. Unpub. LEXIS 199, 2021 WL 1401498 (Nev. App. Apr. 12, 2021).

#### 2. The final judgment is valid and was actually litigated.

The Quiet Title Litigation resulted in a final judgment entered on June 24, 2019. 20 AA4181-97. Before entry of the final judgment, Tobin, in her capacity as trustee, appealed. Rather than seeking a stay of the judgment pending appeal, Tobin filed this new action, asserting the same claims that were previously rejected in the Quiet Title Litigation. Regardless, a judgment on appeal retains its preclusive effect for purposes of both claim and issue preclusion. See Edwards v. Ghandour, 123 Nev. 105, 117, 159 P.3d 1086, 1094 (Nev. 2007), disagreed with on other grounds in Five Star, 124 Nev. at 1053-54, 194 P.3d at 712-13.

There is no question that the Quiet Title Litigation was actually litigated. The Hansen Trust's counterclaims against Jimijack proceeded to a bench trial. 20 AA4181-97.

Finally, while not necessary for the application of issue or claim preclusion, the district court's final judgment in the Quiet Title Litigation was appealed and affirmed by the Nevada Court of Appeals. In a detailed opinion, the Nevada Court of Appeals found that the HOA Foreclosure was valid because the Hansen Trust was continuously in default on obligations that were properly included in the HOA's lien from the date the underlying notice of delinquent assessment lien was recorded to the date of the foreclosure sale. See Tobin v. Stokes, 79295-COA, 2021 Nev. App. Unpub. LEXIS 199, 2021 WL 1401498 (Nev. App. Apr. 12, 2021).

### 3. The subsequent action is based on the same claims.

Issue preclusion may be applicable "even though the causes of action are substantially different, if the same fact issue is presented." <u>LaForge v. State</u>, <u>University System</u>, 116 Nev. 415, 420, 997 P.2d 130,134 (Nev. 2000)(citing <u>Clark v. Clark</u>, 80 Nev. 52, 56, 389 P.2d 69, 71 (Nev. 1964)). The court in the prior action must have addressed and decided the same underlying factual issues. <u>Id</u>.

Here, while the claims for relief have been restated, the issue presented in the Amended Complaint is the same issue that was previously fully adjudicated in the Quiet Title Litigation, i.e., whether the HOA Foreclosure followed the procedures

of NRS Chapter 116 to constitute a valid sale. <u>Compare</u> 19 AA3980-4174 <u>with</u> 16 AA3239-56. In both Orders entered in the Quiet Title Litigation, Judge Kishner considered, and rejected as futile, Tobin's attempt to challenge the validity of the sale *based on Tobin's own letter and trial testimony*. <u>See</u> 19 AA 3834-43 and 20 AA4181-97. The district court's finding was thereafter affirmed by the Nevada Court of Appeals. <u>See Tobin v. Stokes</u>, 79295-COA, 2021 Nev. App. Unpub. LEXIS 199, 2021 WL 1401498 (Nev. App. Apr. 12, 2021).

By filing a second complaint regarding the same transaction that was involved in the Quiet Title Litigation, Tobin impermissibly attempted to have the district court in this action substitute its judgment for that of Judge Kishner – and worse – the Nevada Court of Appeal's review of the final judgment entered in the Quiet Title Litigation.

Tobin's Amended Complaint goes against the public policy reasons supporting issue and claim preclusion which is founded upon the "public policy of limiting litigation by preventing a party who had one full and fair opportunity to litigate an issue from again drawing it into controversy." <u>Bower v. Harrah's Laughlin, Inc.</u>, 125 Nev. 37, 215 P.3d 709, 718 (Nev. 2009). The district court correctly found that Tobin's claims were barred by issue and claim preclusion as Tobin already had an opportunity to assert her claims as trustee of the Hansen Trust. 21 AA 4379. Tobin is bound by the final judgment entered against the Hansen Trust.

<u>Id.</u> Accordingly, this Court should affirm the district court's finding that Tobin's Amended Complaint is barred by the doctrines of issue and claim preclusion.

# B. The district court did not abuse its discretion in awarding the Chiesi Respondents their attorney's fees and costs incurred in defense of Tobin's frivolous claims.

#### 1. Tobin's claims were brought without reasonable grounds.

When a claim is brought or maintained without reasonable ground, NRS 18.010(2)(b) allows a court to award the prevailing party its attorney's fees incurred in defending against the groundless claims. NRS 18.010(2)(b) provides:

(2) In addition to the cases where an allowance is authorized by specific statute, the court may make an allowance of attorney's fees to a prevailing party:

. . . .

(b) Without regard to the recovery sought, when the court finds that the claim, counterclaim, cross-claim or thirdparty complaint or defense of the opposing party was brought or maintained without reasonable ground or to harass the prevailing party. The court shall liberally construe the provisions of this paragraph in favor of awarding attorney's fees in all appropriate situations. It is the intent of the Legislature that the court award attorney's fees pursuant to this paragraph and impose sanctions pursuant to Rule 11 of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure in all appropriate situations to punish for and deter frivolous or vexatious claims and defenses because such claims and defenses overburden limited judicial resources, hinder the timely resolution of meritorious claims and increase the costs of engaging in business and providing professional services to the public.

(emphasis added).

This Court has interpreted NRS 18.010(2)(b) to require the trial court to determine whether a party had reasonable grounds for its claims or defenses. See Bergman v. Boyce, 109 Nev. 670, 856 P.2d 560 (Nev. 1993) (finding that the trial court abused its discretion in denying defendant's motion for attorney's fees where some of plaintiff's claims were groundless). A claim is groundless if the claim is not supported by any credible evidence. Id. at 675, 856 P.2d at 563.

Here, the district court correctly found that Tobin's Amended Complaint was a "multiplication" of the Quiet Title Litigation, precluded by issue and claim preclusion, and thus, was brought without reasonable ground such that an award of attorney's fees and costs was proper pursuant to NRS 18.010(2)(b). <u>Id.</u> Tobin's Amended Complaint is part of a pattern of harassing and vexatious litigation. Unless this Court upholds the sanctions imposed by the district court, Tobin will continue to abuse the legal system by filing further frivolous and vexatious claims that overburden the limited judicial resources of this state, thereby hindering the timely resolution of meritorious claims and increasing the costs of engaging in business and providing professional services to the public.

After the district court entered its order granting the Chiesi Respondents' Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs, Tobin continued her pattern of harassing and vexatious litigation by filing a Third-Party Complaint against all counsel involved in this litigation. See "Nona Tobin's Third-Party Complaint vs. Steven B. Scow;

Brody R. Wight; Joseph Hong; Melanie Morgan; David Ochoa; Brittany Wood", filed on March 22, 2021, in Red Rock Financial Services v. Tobin et al., Case No. A-21-828840-C. Tobin's 273-page filing in that action included state bar complaints (all of which were dismissed without notice to counsel as meritless), attorney general complaints, and links to online postings that disparage counsel involved in this action. Although Tobin recently voluntarily dismissed her filing in that action after failing to effectuate service, the filing provides further support for the district court's finding that sanctions are required to deter Tobin's vexatious conduct. This is precisely the type of case the Nevada Legislature sought to deter by enacting NRS 18.010(2)(b).

#### 2. Tobin waived her objection to the cost award.

The district court did not abuse its discretion in awarding the Chiesi Respondents \$308.99 in costs. The Chiesi Respondents only sought to recover their filing fees charged by the district court for appearing in this action and for filing five documents through the district court's e-file and serve system (which imposes a \$3.50 charge, per filing). The Chiesi Respondents' costs were supported by the Memorandum of Costs and Disbursements and the court's own docket.

For the first time on appeal, Tobin argues that the \$308.99 cost award – supported by the court's own docket – was not supported by "adequate documentation evidencing that the costs were necessary to and incurred in this

action." However, Tobin did not raise this argument at the district court. 21 AA 4408-33. Accordingly, the argument is deemed waived on appeal. Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (Nev. 1981)("A point not urged in the trial court . . . is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal."). Accordingly, this Court should affirm the district court's award of costs in the amount of \$308.99.

## 3. The district court properly applied the *Brunzell* factors to award the Chiesi Respondents attorney's fees.

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